



The University of Manchester Research

### Towards a feminist green new deal for the UK

**Document Version** Final published version

Link to publication record in Manchester Research Explorer

#### Citation for published version (APA):

Cohen, M., & MacGregor, S. (2020). *Towards a feminist green new deal for the UK: A PAPER FOR THE WBG COMMISSION ON A GENDER-EQUAL ECONOMY*. Women's Budget Group.

#### Citing this paper

Please note that where the full-text provided on Manchester Research Explorer is the Author Accepted Manuscript or Proof version this may differ from the final Published version. If citing, it is advised that you check and use the publisher's definitive version.

#### **General rights**

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the Research Explorer are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights.

#### Takedown policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please refer to the University of Manchester's Takedown Procedures [http://man.ac.uk/04Y6Bo] or contact uml.scholarlycommunications@manchester.ac.uk providing relevant details, so we can investigate your claim.



# TOWARDS A FEMINIST GREEN NEW DEAL FOR THE UK

A PAPER FOR THE WBG COMMISSION ON A GENDER-EQUAL ECONOMY

**MAEVE COHEN AND SHERILYN MACGREGOR** [1]





### **CONTENTS**

- 1. Introduction
- 2. Existing Green New Deal Plans In The UK
- 2.1 Common Themes
- 3. Analytical Framework
- 4. Feminist Analysis Of Existing Green New Deal Plans
- 4.1 Redressing Material Disadvantage And Economic Inequality And Recommendations
- 4.2 Structural And Infrastructural Transformation And Recommendations
- 4.3 Inclusive Participation And Recommendations
- 4.4 Countering Misogyny And Male Privilege And Recommendations
- 4.5 Recognising Care And Recommendations
- 4.6 Reducing The Social And Ecological Costs Of Social Reproduction And Recommendations

### **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**

This paper maps out the common themes in existing Green New Deal (GND) plans that are specific to the UK and analyses them using a feminist analytical framework that combines dimensions of substantive gender equality and principles of feminist ecological economics. It discusses the potential as well as the problems in existing GND plans and responds with a set of recommendations for what a feminist green new deal for the UK that addresses the goals of substantive gender equality and living within ecological limits would entail.

### These recommendations are:

- a) Recognise that the gender division of unpaid care work drives substantive gender inequality and that policies for a 'just transition' must address the gender gap by redistributing and reducing it.
- b) Future-proof employment in a decarbonised economy through life-long learning.
- c) Connect local and national GND policies to a commitment to global justice.
- d) Promote participatory town planning to co-create spaces with those who use them.
- e) Transform food supply chains to enable socially just and environmentally sustainable food production, distribution and consumption.
- f) Implement shorter hours of employment alongside policies to promote gender equality in paid and unpaid work.
- g) Ensure GND plans are developed through an inclusive and democratic process.
- h) Implement community wealth building to address gender and environmental concerns locally.
- i) Embed feminist substantive equality goals at all stages and in all policy strands of a GND.
- j) Promote a culture shift towards valuing care as foundational to the economy, society and environmental sustainability.
- k) Transform social and physical infrastructure to ensure social reproduction is equally shared and uses resources efficiently.

### **1. INTRODUCTION**

Proposals for a Green New Deal (GND) that will reform national economies while dramatically reducing CO2 emissions have been in development around the world for over a decade. There is now a range of groups advocating a GND and plans share a commitment to a 'just transition' to a 'green economy' and are framed by the urgent need for a 21st century industrial strategy in the face of a climate emergency.

GND proposals and plans have paid little attention to gender equality and until recently there has been insufficient critical engagement with environmental and climate politics by mainstream feminists. As a result of efforts by feminist environmentalists, there is growing scrutiny of the gendered assumptions contained in GND visions and an emerging conversation about how a GND could be good for gender justice if feminist environmental goals were incorporated.



### 2. EXISTING GREEN NEW DEAL PLANS IN THE UK

The idea for a GND was first articulated in the UK in 2007 as a comprehensive response to twin financial and climate crises and was modelled on US President Roosevelt's New Deal to recover from the Great Depression. It began with the formation of a Green New Deal Group and has culminated in the Decarbonisation and Economic Strategy Bill, [2] which was presented to the House of Commons in March 2019.[3] The GND was central to the Labour Party and Green Party manifestos [4] for the 2019 general election. There has been some progress towards GND formation in devolved administrations, with Scotland leading the rest of the UK by adopting 'Protecting Scotland's Future' as a programme of government in 2019-20. [5]

There is a continuum of approaches taken by different groups. The Bill is considerably less radical in its ambition, so as to gain wide cross-party support, whereas the Green Party Manifesto and the visions expressed by non-governmental think tanks, such as the New Economics Foundation (NEF)[6] and Common Wealth, [7] can be much more radical because they are unlikely to be implemented.

This section looks at the main themes found in the most dominant iterations of a GND in the UK, namely the <u>Decarbonisation and Economics Strategy Bill</u>, the <u>Labour Party 2019</u> <u>Manifesto</u>, <u>the Green Party 2019 Manifesto</u>, and reports by (NEF) and Commonwealth.



### **2.1 COMMON THEMES**

**Decarbonising the economy**: with a focus on the decarbonisation of the energy, transportation and housing/building sectors using large scale public and private investment.

**Democratising the economy:** plans champion new forms of ownership, a rebalancing of power between public and private institutions and increased devolution, aided by appropriate financing from Central Government.

A 'socially just transition' : entails redressing economic inequality through the creation of jobs in new green industries along with a related dimension of equality of access through improved transport infrastructure and an expansion in training and development opportunities.

**Preserving the natural environment:** restoring biodiversity and building resilience in the form of tree-planting, rewilding, restoring habitats and river catchments, as well as policies to promote reduction in air pollution and the use of plastics, pesticides and other chemicals.

**Reform of finance and banking systems:** GND policies would be funded using tax reform, banking reform (in the shape of national/green investment banks and regional banking), and government borrowing.

**Governance and oversight:** so far GND thinking has been primarily expert-led with a focus on financial reform and industrial strategy, although some think tanks champion a more placed-based approach with local strategies supported by national government.

**International responsibilities:** proposals emphasise the need for a global just transition facilitated by a new multilateral internationalism in which finance, resource and technology transfers are made from Global North to Global South in order to redress historic debts and inequalities.

### **3. ANALYTICAL FRAMEWORK**

To analyse these common themes in GND plans, this paper applies a framework consisting of four feminist principles of substantive equality and two principles central to feminist ecological economics. This combination enables a comprehensive evaluation, not only of how policies might affect women's lives, but also how the struggle for gender equality is related to the urgent need to protect, and live within the limits of, the biophysical environment and climate system.

Although Gender equality has been enshrined in law, women are regularly disadvantaged because they are women, in ways that are shaped by how gender intersects with other categories of social difference such as race, class, age, and dis/ability. Because legal equality, which treats women the same as men, does not lead to structural transformation, feminists call for substantive equality.

A four-dimensional and **intersectional approach to substantive gender equality entails** the following:

- **Redressing material and social disadvantages** experienced by women that stem from gendered power relations and the gender income gaps.
- **Transforming social structures** in order to bring about a fair distribution of power and resources and fundamental change in the institutions and infrastructures (social and built) that perpetuate women's subordination.
- Facilitating political participation and social inclusion in ways that enable women's agency and gives voice to a wide range of needs and interests that are shaped by intersections of gender, race, class, age, ability and other axes of social difference.
- **Countering the misogynist stereotypes, trivialisation, and violence** that contribute to denying women dignity and respect, at the same time as countering the valorisation and normalisation of traits and life patterns that sustain male privilege.[8]

**Feminist ecological economics** [9] recognises connections between the exploitation of feminised care work and the exploitation of the Earth's resources. It sees ecological/climate emergency and the crisis of social reproduction (often referred to simply as care [10]) as interlinked and mutually sustaining, arising from the overburdening of those who carry responsibility for social reproduction, the vast majority of whom are women (see Box 1).

Social reproduction (SR) refers to the daily and generational renewal of life that is essential to sustaining societies and their economies. SR requires work, and in capitalism, this work is feminised and undervalued. SR involves unpaid care and domestic work as well as paid work in public services (health and social care, education), community volunteering, and environmental maintenance and stewardship.

Women who bear the responsibility for care are also increasingly shouldering the costs ensuing from the ecological crisis as well as measures to redress it. What has come to be known as the 'feminisation of environmental labour'[11] leads to time poverty, which in turn may complicate or reduce women's ability to participate in pro-environmental actions in private and public spheres.

The performance of unpaid care and domestic labour by women in individual households is not only a free subsidy that enables continual capitalist growth, in rich countries such as the UK, it also makes possible a consumer culture that is widely recognised as having exceeded the biophysical limits of a finite planet. Central to feminist ecological economics is the normative claim that gender equality should not be achieved at the expense of ecological degradation or the exploitation of nature and other species and that environmental sustainability must not be achieved by exploiting feminised labour.

Drawing on these insights, two further principles are added to the analytical framework: [12]

- recognising paid and unpaid care work as central components of both the economy and systems that sustain life.
- reducing the social and ecological costs of privatised social reproduction by distributing it fairly within society and by organising it in ways that enable efficient use of time and material resources and minimal waste.

### 4. FEMINIST ANALYSIS OF EXISTING GND PLANS

Feminists have been critically analysing environmental concepts and policies, such as sustainable development, degrowth, and green economy, for well over three decades. A recurring criticism is that much of what gets discussed in the environmental sphere is male dominated, rooted in orthodox economic thinking, celebrates technological fixes and rarely includes social issues in general, and intersectional gender equality in particular.[13]

While all expressions of a GND in the UK place importance on decarbonisation and increasing economic equality, they place far more emphasis on the green aspects, than they place on specific strategies for increasing substantive social justice along the lines defined in section 3. Gender roles, norms and relations are not meaningfully considered. As a result, there is a lack of acknowledgement of the links between the climate crisis and gender inequality, and addressing gender inequality is not considered in plans for decarbonising the economy.

When the six principles from the feminist analytic framework (outlined above) are applied to GND plans, the following assessments and recommendations can be made. Recommendations in each section build on existing GND policies and do not constitute a standalone, comprehensive vision. They take for granted basic aspects of a GND (such as ending the extraction of fossil fuels and adopting legally binding targets for decarbonisation) and are intended to start a conversation by making recommendations that respond to feminist principles of substantive equality and ecological justice, thereby giving a provisional answer to the question: what would a feminist GND for the UK entail?



# 4.1 REDRESSING MATERIAL DISADVANTAGE AND ECONOMIC INEQUALITY

GND plans tend to define equality and justice in economic terms. Most aim to reduce economic inequality through job creation. While some women will have opportunities for paid work in a new green economy, due to the overrepresentation of men employed in the focal sectors (i.e., energy, construction and transport), the creation of new, high quality work in these industries will disproportionately benefit men. There is little evidence that green jobs will address gender inequalities and could even entrench them further.[14] The Labour Party Manifesto does offer training bursaries to women, BAME people and people on low incomes, but none of the proposals adequately address barriers to women's economic equality. Only the Green Party Manifesto proposes universal basic income (UBI), a policy that could potentially address women's material disadvantage and give them greater financial independence, although we acknowledge divisions among feminists regarding the desirability of UBI. [15]

Although job creation is the main tool through which plans address social inequality in a decarbonised economy, none of them recommend expanding existing low-carbon and socially fundamental jobs in the care and service industries, female-dominated sectors employing many BAME and migrant women. A socially just green economy needs to focus not just on reforming and reducing carbon-intensive industries but also investing in already low-carbon social infrastructure (i.e., services and facilities that meet needs and contribute towards a good quality of life). This requires more than encouraging women/BAME workers to participate in the construction of physical infrastructure, but also promoting and transforming the care, service and voluntary sectors and rethinking what work counts as part of a just and sustainable society.

As another contribution to this Commission shows, [16] for structural reasons, women-dominated sectors are at risk of increasing automation. Lifelong learning opportunities, paid educational leave and incentives must be used as tools to future proof the work of women by supporting them into green jobs. There must also be efforts to encourage women and girls into the male-dominated green technology sectors in view of the fact that 'only 17% of tech jobs are held by women, and boys are far more likely to express an intention to work in technology than girls'.[17]

## 4.1 REDRESSING MATERIAL DISADVANTAGE AND ECONOMIC INEQUALITY CONT/

Changes in taxation and subsidies by their nature entail winners and losers. None of the current plans have carried out a gendered analysis on proposed changes to taxation and subsidies. It is essential that increasing taxes on fossil fuels be accompanied by other measures, so that they are fiscally neutral and income neutral for low- and middle-income people.

While UK-specific change is important, it cannot proceed without constant consideration of impacts on people and places in other parts of the planet. A just transition includes global climate justice, which will require a fundamental rethinking of the UK's role in racist and neo-colonial international relations (e.g. its involvement in tax havens, off-shoring and militarism) and ending the hostile environment for immigrants to the UK. To differing degrees, existing GND plans include such commitments.

From a feminist perspective what is missing, however, is recognition of the international gender division of labour, especially how transnational 'care chains' [18] sustain the UK economy and socio-economic disadvantage of women immigrants and migrant workers. There is also no mention of protecting sexual and reproductive rights, which are threatened by neo-Malthusian population reduction campaigns led by some of the most prominent environmentalists in the UK.[19]A feminist GND for the UK would acknowledge the need to repay debts and heal harms caused in the UK's colonial past, as well as its racist and misogynist present, by the finance, development, military and care/service sectors. [20]



### **4.1 RECOMMENDATIONS**

- A. Recognise that the gender division of unpaid care work drives substantive gender inequality and that policies for a 'just transition' must address the gender gap by redistributing and reducing it.
  - Embed policies for fostering sharing of unpaid care between men and women, such as universal childcare and paid parental and care leave.
  - Implement large scale investment in all forms of social infrastructure.
  - Require organisations to collect and report on their gender pay and employment gap.

## B. Future-proof employment in a decarbonised economy through life-long learning.

- Provide subsidies or other incentives (including paid education leave) to support women, low-income and BAME people to access training and development programmes and give more people access to high-skilled work in the new green economy.
- Provide subsidies or other incentives to support those whose jobs are at a high risk of being replaced by automation in order to future proof employment.
- Encourage women and girls into male-dominated green sectors promoted by the GND, as well as encouraging boys and men into the already green caring sectors.
- Education and training should be led by local authorities who understand the skills gaps in their localities. Training need not be de facto in green technologies, but in a range of sectors and jobs (including care, education and environmental protection) that are locally needed.

## C. Connect local and national GND policies to a commitment to global justice.

- End the hostile environment for immigrants.
- Hold transnational corporations to account for practices that exploit people, animals and the environment for profit.
- Put the justice demands of marginalised and exploited groups at the centre of national and international policy-making and guarantee the protection of human rights, including reproductive and sexual rights.

### **4.2 STRUCTURAL AND INFRASTRUCTURAL TRANSFORMATION**

The outcomes of current GND proposals, such as better transport systems and energy efficient housing, might well improve the lives of women. However, proposals for large infrastructural transformations give little attention to how the technical and the social intersect. For example, houses are designed to be energy efficient with no change in the design aspects that lock in traditional nuclear family assumptions or the habits of a throw-away culture.[1]Green goals are pursued without the gendered implications being fully considered, and there is no suggestion that the needs and life patterns of diverse women are being be considered by planners, architects and engineers when redesigning the built environment.

The food industry is responsible for almost 26% of global carbon emissions [22]. Radical changes in the production, processing and distribution of food are needed. Several of the GND plans address food production and consumption, with some calling for decarbonised, people-focussed farming via urban growing and community farms. These plans are welcome, however there has been no consideration of the gendered implications of a move towards unprocessed food and increased DIY provisioning. Nor does there appear to be any discussion of the opportunities to create jobs in sustainable food preparation and delivery companies to ensure that any added burden does not fall on those most responsible for food provisioning in households (i.e., women).

Changes to typical temporal structures could reduce negative environmental impacts, and the move to a four-day work week is part of some but not all GND plans. When included, it is a response to the effects of automation that are predicted to take over from workers' time, and to some extent aims at redistributing work to create employment equality. From a feminist perspective, a shorter paid work week also has considerable potential to redistribute unpaid care more equitably, and policies that facilitate this (such as UBI, universal childcare and reformed paternity leave) should be promoted alongside it. [23] However, feminist critics argue that progress towards equal sharing of care and domestic work in heterosexual couple households requires not more time at home but a cultural shift in how men and women are expected to use their time when not in paid employment. [24]

### **4.2 RECOMMENDATIONS**

- D. Promote participatory town planning to co-create spaces with those who use them.
- Ensure that physical infrastructure is designed with local communities to accommodate the life patterns of women and other marginalised groups at the same time as green goals.

- E. Transform food supply chains to enable socially just and environmentally sustainable food production, distribution and consumption.
- Balance recommendations for greater food self-reliance with recognition of the gendered, unpaid and low-paid labour involved in producing and providing food.
- Support and develop sustainable small businesses that save time by mass preparation and distribution of locally grown food.
- Improve food certification schemes to go beyond just 'organic' to ensure ethical and sustainable food production.

- F. Implement shorter hours of employment alongside policies to promote gender equality in paid and unpaid work.
- Implement a 30-hour paid work week.
- Actively incentivise and normalise care leaves for men.
- Conduct research and monitoring in order to assess the benefits of UBI for addressing the gender gap and any unintended environmental consequences it might have (e.g. increased consumption).

### **4.3 INCLUSIVE PARTICIPATION**

'A precursor to policy change is a proper public debate and wider awareness of the problems,' [25] yet most of the idea generation for GND policies in the UK has come from political parties and think tanks made up of economists, policy experts, and journalists. This can be contrasted with Canada and the USA, where social movements have been active in shaping GND debates. [26] Thus far there is no widespread public conversation or consultation process to inform GND visions in the UK.

How would a GND be agreed and implemented? Governance features in all existing plans, with the Decarbonisation and Economic Strategy Bill calling for the establishment of a Green New Deal Commission that, while representative, would be a top down, parliamentary body. Although both Common Wealth and NEF recognise the need for bottom-up transformation, only trade unions and generic 'communities' are named, with no mention of particular constituencies (such as women, BAME people, im/migrants, LGBTQI people, youth, elders, disabled people, etc.) or of specific methods for ensuring meaningful grassroots participation. This absence of inclusive civil society engagement could in part explain the invisibility of gender in existing GND plans.

All the proposals argue for decentralisation and democratic control of local economies. They call for new forms of ownership in the form of co-operatives, worker/community-owned enterprises, public/municipal enterprises and more. These changes could benefit women by increasing female participation and power within decision-making processes and embedding gender equality from the start. To ensure the best access possible, these would need to go hand in hand with the provision of necessary support to participate (e.g. childcare, accessible spaces) as well as recognition of inequalities among women.

The contribution to this Commission [27] on community wealth building [28] demonstrates the power of this model in promoting decent work in ways that address multiple problems with the current economic model. These principles could be applied to the caring industries, energy and transport sectors (among others) with deep links to the local community. They could be a way to promote apprenticeships and training and increase female representation in male-dominated industries. They could be used in conjunction with national strategies relating to finance, transport and the National Grid and would be supported with better policies for funding local and regional government.

### **4.3 RECOMMENDATIONS**

## G. Ensure GND plans are developed through an inclusive and democratic process.

- Build capacity for meaningful democratic participation, which could include increasing economic, ecological and carbon literacy through public broadcasting and social media.
- Require consultations and decision-making bodies to be gender balanced and reflective of the diversity of the UK population.
- Require involvement of civil society organisations and citizens so that plans reflect diverse needs, experiences and knowledge. An inclusive process must include continuous review.
- Experiment with alternative models of deliberation, such as mini-publics and citizens' assemblies, empowered to make binding recommendations to governments.

## H. Implement community wealth building to address gender and environmental concerns locally.

- Use anchor institutions [29] to promote sustainable business, decent work for women and retain wealth created in the local area.
- Support new forms of ownership, such as cooperatives and community owned enterprises, using the community wealth building model.

### **4.4 COUNTERING MISOGYNY AND MALE PRIVILEGE**

No GND plans include any measures to redress gender bias, much less to counter misogyny or male privilege, appearing to accept the status quo without question. With little or no mention of gender, they take for granted masculine norms. For example, the excitement over the number of green jobs that will be created do not acknowledge that the vast majority will be concentrated in male-dominated sectors, nor the fact that female-dominated sectors like social and childcare are already low-carbon.

GND language valorises historical periods and gendered norms that feminists have criticised. [30]. The very framing of the plans as a 'Green New Deal' (and sometimes a 'green industrial revolution) mirrors historic drives of investment and transformational change directed primarily at industry. These historical events assisted progress in many areas of public life, but also gave rise to gendered norms of the male worker-breadwinner and female housewife, both of which remain embedded to some extent in Western/Anglo-European culture. They were accompanied by adverse outcomes for women in both public and private spheres. The subsequent prioritisation of physical infrastructure and the side-lining or invisibility of social infrastructure is a continuation of male-centric orthodox economics. From a feminist perspective, it is essential to balance the emphasis on decarbonising the economy with the stated commitment to redressing social injustice, and this requires both awareness of and strategies for changing gender norms and stereotypes.



### **4.4 RECOMMENDATIONS**

I. Embed feminist substantive equality goals at all stages and in all policy strands of a GND.

- Build capacity for gender and intersectional analysis among economists, planners, decision makers and communicators through training and the co-creation of policy with the communities they affect.
- Rethink the gendered language and assumptions that underpin orthodox and green economics.
- Adopt policies for meaningful democratic participation outlined above.

### **4.5 RECOGNISING CARE**

The most significant gap in existing policies is care: both paid work in the caring industries and unpaid caring and domestic labour. Some GND plans mention care superficially and others go as far as indicating a need to 'transform care' but do not say why or how. None of the plans recognise that paid and unpaid care work are an integral part of a transition to a green economy, and are, for the most part, already low carbon. The systemic lack of recognition and investment in social infrastructure has created industries in which small amounts of investment can create significant returns in both employment opportunities and service improvement. As previous research by WBG has shown, the employment case for large scale investment in care is clear. [31] Any proposals to decarbonise and stimulate the economy through job creation must include investment in the caring industries.

It is entirely possible to create a post-carbon economy whilst simultaneously doing nothing to address the unfair division of social reproductive work between men and women. In order to address social inequality, plans for a GND need to explicitly focus on the gendered outcomes of any proposed policy. For example, in a city without cars, how will a GND address the increased time and labour now involved in shopping for a family? Who will wash the glasses and nappies when plastic no longer offers the convenience of disposables? Questions like this must be answered in a way that promotes gender equality rather than increasing women's share of work and responsibility.



### **4.5 RECOMMENDATIONS**

- J. Promote a culture shift towards valuing care as foundational to the economy, society and environmental sustainability.
- Reframe and promote the caring industries and large portions of the service industry as green jobs.
- Support the caring industries to become greener through the promotion of sustainable buildings, low impact equipment and cleaning materials, and strategies to reduce waste.
- Rebalance job creation in green technologies and infrastructure with investment in foundational low-carbon sectors. Labelling care, service, maintenance and stewardship as low-carbon activities would increase their social value, potentially making them more attractive to men [32].

# 4.6 REDUCING THE SOCIAL AND ECOLOGICAL COSTS OF SOCIAL REPRODUCTION

The privatisation of care and other forms of social reproduction in individual households has not only been a driver of women's inequality, it is also resource intensive and wasteful. It is a feature of capitalism that, in rich countries like the UK, facilitates over-consumption, profit-oriented economic growth, environmental degradation and climate change.

GND plans currently do not make this connection, focussing instead on how to make private houses more energy efficient and how to get individuals to engage in sustainable practices such as water and energy conservation and waste recycling. There is no consideration of how everyday life practices could be made more resource efficient or how living spaces could be designed to maximise eco-efficiency at the same time as reducing the time required to carry them out. For example, old houses might be retrofitted with better insulation and new build housing might conform to Passivhaus [33] specifications, but the way living spaces are designed to lock in certain gendered patterns, practices and roles are not considered to be in need of change. Public transport might adopt electric or hydrogen-powered vehicles but fail to devise routes and schedules that serve people with variable work/care patterns requiring multiple short trips (to shops, schools, children's leisure activities, etc.) at different times in the day. While the transition to a decarbonised economy offers great potential to rethink a vast range of normalised features of daily life, insights from feminist architects, town planners and transport planners have not found their way into existing GND plans. [34]



### **4.6 RECOMMENDATIONS**

K. Transform social and physical infrastructure to ensure social reproduction is equally shared and uses resources efficiently.

- Enable collectivisation of unpaid care and domestic work through design in order to move away from 'caring as usual' as well as to reduce the material throughput involved. Better design will enable better service provision and mutual aid, thereby making care work less time consuming.
- Design new houses and flats with dedicated spaces for drying laundry and storing bulk goods and recyclables, providing communal gardens, kitchens and utility sheds for sharing tools, toys, appliances and work between neighbours.
- Promote, fund and facilitate co-housing developments, intentional communities and community land trusts in urban and rural areas, in order to co-locate carers, people requiring care (such as lone older women and people with disabilities) and amenities in close proximity.
- Ensure public transport schedules and routes are codesigned with users to provide a comprehensive service for those dependent on them.

### REFERENCES

- 1. Politics Department and Sustainable Consumption Institute, The University of Manchester. Corresponding author: sherilyn.macgregor@manchester.ac.uk
- 2. Available at https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/bills/cbill/2017-2019/0365/190365.pdf
- 3. The Green New Deal Group (2019), <u>A Green New Deal, a bill to make it happen.</u>
- 4. <u>Labour Party Manifesto</u> 2019; <u>Green Party Manifesto</u> 2019.
- 5. Available at <u>https://www.gov.scot/publications/protecting-scotlands-future-governments-programme-scotland-2</u> <u>019-20/</u>
- 6. NEF (2019)<u>A Green New Deal for the UK</u>.
- 7. Lawrence (2019), Road Map to a Green New Deal Common Wealth.
- Adapted from:Fredman, S. & B. Goldblatt, 'Discussion paper: Gender equality and human rights', UN Women, No. 4, July 2015; WBG internal paper for CGEE, 'What do we mean by equality? An overview of substantive equality' (2019); and Fraser, N. (2013) Fortunes of Feminism (Verso).
- See Mellor, M. (2017) 'Ecofeminist political economy: a feminist and green agenda' In S. MacGregor (ed.) *The Routledge Handbook of Gender and Environment*; Bauhardt, C. (2014) 'Solutions to the crisis? The Green New Deal, degrowth, and the solidarity economy: Alternatives to the capitalist growth economy from an ecofeminist economics perspective' *Ecological Economics* 102: 60–68; Biesecker, A. & Hofmeister, S. (2010). 'Focus: (re)productivity. Sustainable relations both between society and nature and between the genders' *Ecological Economics* 69 (80):1703–1711.
- 10. For a comprehensive definition of care, which includes both paid and unpaid care work and explains it as fundamental to economic, social and political relations/systems, see Tronto, J. (2013) Caring Democracy: Markets, Equality and Justice(NYU Press). NB: Emotional labour is also part of feminist discussions of care work but is controversial so not included it here.
- 11. See Farbotko, C. (2019) Domestic Environmental Labor: An Ecofeminist Perspective (Routledge).
- 12. These six principles echo Elson's (2017) call to 'recognise, reduce and redistribute' unpaid care work but go a step further to make explicit connections between 'closing the gender gap' and environmental sustainability. Elson, D. (2017) 'Recognize, reduce, and redistribute unpaid care work: How to close the gender gap' *New Labor Forum* Vol. 26(2):52–61.
- 13. Rohr, U. (2013) 'Towards a green and caring society' in <u>Sustainable Economy and Green Growth: Who</u> <u>Cares?</u> (Berlin: genanet).
- 14. Ilkkaracan, I. (2013) 'Purple economy: A call for a new economic order beyond the green' in <u>Sustainable</u> <u>Economy and Green Growth: Who Cares?</u>; Littig, B. (2017) 'Good green jobs for whom? A feminist critique of the green economy' in MacGregor, S. (ed.) *Routledge Handbook of Gender and Environment*.
- 15. Sharples, M. (2019) 'Basic income and gender equality', policy paper for the Commission on GEE.

### REFERENCES

- 16. Martin, A. & Scurrah, E. (2019) '<u>Reclaiming Women's Time'</u>, New Economics Foundation.
- Neitzert, E. (2019) WBG overview paper 'Gender equality and paid/unpaid work'; quoting Turing Institute (n.d.)<u>'Women in data science and Al'</u>.
- 18. The concept of care chains refers topersonal links between people across the globe based on the paid or unpaid work of caring. It is useful in understanding how global structural inequality creates and is reinforced by international division and transnational movement of labour that is racialized and gendered. See Ehrenreich, B. & Hochschild, A.R. (eds.) (2003) *Global Woman: Nannies, Maids and Sex Workers in the New Economy*(Henry Holt and Company).
- 19. Patrons of the UK-based organisation <u>Population Matters</u> include David Attenborough, James Lovelock and Jonathon Porritt amongst others. For a feminist and decolonial critique of neo-Malthusianism see Sasser, J. (2017) in MacGregor (ed.) *Routledge Handbook of Gender and Environment*.
- 20. See the inclusive, intersectional and decolonial climate justice demands put forth by a UK coalition of organisations, The Wretched of the Earth:<u>https://www.redpepper.org.uk/an-open-letter-to-extinction-rebellion/</u>
- 21. Tummers, L.& MacGregor, S. (2019) 'Beyond wishful thinking: a feminist political ecology perspective on commoning, care and the promise of co-housing' *International Journal of the Commons* 13(1): 62–83.
- 22. Ritchie, H. (2019) 'Food production is responsible for one-quarter of the world's greenhouse gas emissions 'https://ourworldindata.org/food-ghg-emissions.
- 23. Martin, A & Scurrah, E. (2019) '<u>Reclaiming Women's Time</u>' (New Economics Foundation).
- 24. Weeks, K. (2009) The Problem with Work (Duke University Press)
- 25. Fisher, D. (2019) 'Caring inequality in UK politics and policy', briefing note for the Commission on GEE.
- 26. See for example Canada's Leap Manifesto and the US-based Feminist Green New Deal.
- 27. <u>https://wbg.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/11/Why-the-local-economy-is-important-for-gender-equalit</u> <u>v.pdf</u>
- 28. Community wealth building is a people-centred form of local economic development aimed and creating a retaining wealth locally whilst promoting economic democracy and agency. See: <u>https://cles.org.uk/community-wealth-building/what-is-community-wealth-building/</u>
- 29. Anchor institutions are large, placed-based organisations that play a key role in their local economy. See: https://cles.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/02/Community-business-and-anchor-institutions-Digital.pdf
- 30. Federici, S. (2012) *Revolution at Point Zero*, PM Press; Mies, M. (1986) *Patriarchy and Accumulation on a World Scale*, Zed Books.

### REFERENCES

- 31. Henau, J. et al (2017) 'Investing in the Care Economy', International Trade Union Confederation.
- 32. Research by US environmental psychologists suggests that campaigns targeted at men and appealing to masculine identities (even if stereotypes) could be effective in redressing the feminisation of environmental labour. Brough, A. et al, (2016) 'Is eco-friendly unmanly? The green-feminine stereotype and its effect on sustainable consumption', *Journal of Consumer Research*, 43(4):567–582. So here, for example, local authorities could use social media to encourage men to see organising a walking school bus for children on their street as an equally if not more valuable response to climate emergency than buying an electric car or cycling to work themselves.
- 33. Passivhaus is the world's leading low energy, low carbon design standard that originated in Germany in the 1990s and is now being adopted by many housing developers and retrofit companies in the UK.
- See Alber, G., Calhoun, K. & Rohr, U. (2016) 'Gender and urban climate change policy: tackling cross-cutting issues towards equitable, sustainable cities' in S. Buckingham & V. Le Masson (eds.) Understanding Climate Change through Gender Relations (Routledge).

Wen (Women's Environmental Network)

20 Club Row, London, E2 7EY



@WEN\_UK

**UK Women's Budget Group** 



@WomensBudgetGrp



